No. 43004-5

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

(Supreme Court, No. 85510-2; Pierce County
Superior Court Cause No. 08-2-04312-1)

ARTHUR WEST,

Appellant,

v.

PORT OF TACOMA, et al.,

Respondent

BY _____
DEPUTY

STATE OF WASHINGTON

2012 NOV -8 PM 3:35

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

APPELLANT'S SECOND REVISED OPENING BRIEF

Stephanie M. R. Bird
Cushman Law Offices, P.S.
924 Capitol Way South
Olympia, WA 98501

206-812-3144
Attorneys for Appellant

I. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a case where the Defendant and Respondent Port of Tacoma, in response to Plaintiff and Appellant Arthur West's public records request, resisted compliance with the Public Records Act, delaying production both of responsive records and also of the required exemption log, and forced Mr. West to file the instant lawsuit where he thrice noted the matter for a show cause hearing. The Trial Court judge erred in not conducting the show cause hearing (declining to even reach the question of whether the Port violated the PRA, even though the Port's violations were apparent from its delayed responses to Mr. West) and in appointing a special discovery master to determine the ultimate issues in the case (by law reserved for the judiciary), and erred in dismissing Mr. West's lawsuit in contravention of CR 41(b)(1) and (2).

When the Port did disclose some records after Mr. West filed this lawsuit, the records showed that the Port had deliberately delayed its responses to PRA requests as a matter of policy, had destroyed records, and had concealed information from the public. Despite the clear evidence of the Port's violation of the PRA (not only the violations spelled out in the records the Port eventually released, but also the late disclosure of records and late release of exemption logs claiming exemptions not supported by law), the Trial Court refused to conduct a review or

determine whether the Port violated the PRA. Instead, the case was delayed by more than a year by the Trial Court's striking and continuing hearings, and then by the unprecedented appointment of a discovery special master to decide the ultimate issues in this, a PRA case. Nor, after the special master released his report, were the records identified by the special master as being improperly withheld ever produced by the Port so that a penalty could be assessed. In the face of all this, Mr. West was seriously in doubt about how to proceed. When he received notice of a status conference in the case, Mr. West believed that the case was finally back on track. Instead, the Trial Court dismissed the case at the status conference in violation of CR 41(b)(1) and (2).

This Court should reverse the Trial Court and remand the case back to superior court, directing the Trial Court to hear and decide whether the Port violated the public records act, directing the Trial Court to review the Port's withheld records in camera, and directing the Trial Court to decide and impose a penalty.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES PRESENTED

A. The Trial Court erred in conflating CR 41(b)(1) and (2) and in dismissing Mr. West's case in violation of the rule where each separate prong of the rule requires that the case go forward. *Does CR 41(b)(1) require 10 days' notice before a hearing on a party's motion to dismiss?*

Yes. Was there 10 days' notice before the hearing on the Port's motion to dismiss? No. Does CR 41(b)(2) require that a clerk's motion to dismiss give notice that if no action of record is taken within 30 days that the court will dismiss the case? Yes. Did the judicial assistant's notice of a status conference conform with the requirements of CR 41(b)(2)? No. At any rate, did Mr. West take action of record, like appearing at the status conference and noting the matter for hearing, within 30 days of the judicial assistant's notice? Yes. Was there insufficient evidence supporting the Trial Court's findings of fact 7 ("On December 8, 2010, this Court noted a hearing based on the failure to prosecute/ lack of case activity"), 8 ("The parties were provide with more than thirty (30) days advance written notice of the hearing"), and 9 ("Following the Court's Notice, Petitioner Mr. West did not note the matter for trial, show cause hearing, or otherwise take any action on the case")? Yes, there was insufficient evidence.

B. The Trial Court erred in refusing to conduct a show cause hearing and in refusing to determine whether the Port of Tacoma violated the Public Records Act, when the Port's violations were apparent from its responses to Mr. West. *Should the Court have determined whether the Port violated the PRA, when Mr. West thrice noted the matter for a show cause hearing? Yes. Is it a violation of the PRA to fail to respond in a*

reasonable time? Yes. Were the Port's claimed exemptions on its exemption log not supported by law? Yes.

C. The Trial Court erred in appointing a special master pursuant to a discovery rule, CR 53.3, to decide the ultimate issues of the case, a function that is reserved for the judiciary by RCW 42.56.550(3). *Is the appropriate function of a special master pursuant to CR 53.3 to perform the gatekeeping functions of presiding at depositions or adjudicating discovery disputes? Yes. Is it the function of the judiciary to decide the ultimate issues of the case? Yes. Does RCW 42.56.550(3) require judicial review of agency actions? Yes.*

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a public records request made to defendant and respondent Port of Tacoma, where the plaintiff and appellant Arthur West requested specific identifiable public records concerning the Port's South Sound Logistics Center. CP 14.

The public records request at issue here was emailed by Mr. West to the Port of Tacoma on December 4, 2007. CP 14. Citing to RCW 42.56, Mr. West sought "All records and communications concerning the South Sound Logistics Center, from January 1, 2005 to present," "All correspondence or communication with Diane Sontag," and "Any records

related to potential transport of Uranium Hexafluoride through Thurston County or the SSLC.” CP 14.

The South Sound Logistics Center (“SSLC”) project was jointly undertaken by the Ports of Tacoma and Olympia, who entered into an Interlocal Agreement on July 18, 2006. CP 69; CP 48. The Port of Tacoma had identified a “need for a rail-served logistics center” (CP 44) within “the greater South Sound region” (CP 45). To that end, the Port of Tacoma had purchased a 745-acre parcel of land in 2006, near Maytown, in Thurston County, quite close to I-5. CP 46-47. However, even though the Port of Tacoma had already bought the land, the Port’s project lead for the South Sound Logistics Center Project, Mr. Rob Collins, explained that “The Ports of Olympia and Tacoma have not committed to build the logistics center on this particular site. This location, along with other properties, will be evaluated during an alternative site analysis and as part of the environmental review process. If the Maytown location is not selected, the property will be sold.” CP 47.

Mr. Collins also noted that “While there is broad consensus on the need to provide facilities to accommodate projected regional freight transportation demands, questions have been raised regarding possible impacts at a site-specific level.” CP 48. The Maytown land that the Port of Tacoma purchased was contaminated, and when the Port bought the

land, it agreed to assume responsibility for completing remediation work required as part of a preexisting Washington Department of Ecology Agreed Order. CP 47. This included clean-up of a former drum burial area, removal of contaminated soils, confirmation of the absence of any residual subsurface explosives-related materials and creation of a DOE-approved long-term plan for ongoing groundwater monitoring at locations throughout the site. CP 47. Mr. West was one of the “community members” (CP 48) that Mr. Collins mentioned who had questions “regarding possible impacts at a site-specific level” (CP 48), and Mr. West’s concern sparked his public records request to the Port on December 4, 2007.

After Mr. West made his public records request, the Port responded with the first of a series of estimates for records release that the Port never met. CP 9; CP 11; CP 15; CP 16; CP 17; CP 18. In his Declaration, Mr. Andy Michels, Risk Manager of the Port of Tacoma, stated that “On December 6th, I advised Mr. West that the Port was gathering documents and that the Port expected it would be December 21 before they would be available.” CP 9. There is no record of Mr. Michels’s response (*see, generally*, CP 14-15), but a December 6 response would have been within five business days of Mr. West’s December 4 request.

Next, on December 21, Mr. Michels emailed Mr. West and told him he expected to release records “shortly.” CP 15. On December 26, Mr. West contacted Mr. Michels concerning the Port’s “privilege log,” or exemption log. CP 9. Also on December 26, Mr. Michels sought clarification, and Mr. West replied that same day. CP 9. On December 31, Mr. Michels emailed Mr. West and told him he expected to release the first batch of records by January 10, 2008. On January 10, at 8:38 pm, the Port’s attorney, Ms. Carolyn Lake, emailed Mr. West and told him that she expected the Port would release the first batch of records by January 17. CP 17. On January 11, Mr. Michels emailed Mr. West and repeated Ms. Lake’s estimate of January 17. CP 18.

Having received only broken promises from the Port with an ever-moving target date for the release of any records, Mr. West filed this lawsuit on January 14, alleging that the Port has “failed to respond with exemptions or disclose records and plaintiff is entitled to the relief requested.” CP 1. On that same day, Mr. West filed a Motion for a Show Cause Order, in support of which he declared, “To date the defendant has not released any records whatsoever, and although they have promised to respond with records on three separate occasions, each time they have failed to meet their own deadline” and “I am aware that in response to other requests for these same records by Dianne Sontag, defendants’

counsel has prepared a 41 page log of records it refuses to disclose. However, even these exemptions have not been released to me in response to my request for records to the Port of Tacoma.” CP 6.

Mr. West brought his motion before the Trial Court *ex parte*, and obtained a show cause order directing the Port to appear on February 12 and show cause “why the requested records related to the proposed South Sound Logistics Center should not be released as public records.” CP 7.

Meanwhile, the Port of Tacoma, backpedaling in light of the “questions” (CP 48) raised by community members “regarding possible impacts at a site-specific level” (CP 48), retained an “independent contractor” to “search, examine, and report on any other feasible site locations for the SSLC.” CP 49. The Port of Tacoma also set up its *spin department* (for lack of better word), “currently structuring a process to organize inquiries, develop an efficient way to provide responses to specific questions, and keep the public fully informed about the process and opportunities for public participation and comment at key stages.” CP 48.

What this “process to organize inquiries,” “efficient way to provide responses,” and “keep the public fully informed...at key stages” (CP 48) actually meant at the practical level is nicely set forth in a memorandum dated November 27, 2007:

When these studies [the Alternative Sites Analysis, the Market Analysis, and the Logistics Center Comparative Analysis – all relating to the SSLC] have been finalized, we [the Ports of Olympia and Tacoma] are committed and prepared to share the results with a number of external groups, including Friends of Rocky Prairie [a group that, like Mr. West, made a PRA request to the Port seeking SSLC records]. However we need to acknowledge two issues:...2) the need to fully brief both Commissions [of the Ports of Olympia and Tacoma] prior to or concurrently with sharing them with external groups.

CP 68. That is, the Ports of Tacoma and Olympia had decided to delay responses to outstanding public records requests until after first sharing the responsive records with both Commissions. CP 68.

Mr. Michels stated in his Declaration that on January 17, after Mr. West filed his lawsuit, the Port told Mr. West that they expected to release the first batch of records on January 24. CP 12. Next, Mr. Michels stated that “thereafter” the Port notified Mr. West that the first five volumes of records would be available on January 28. CP 12. Attached to Mr. Michels’s Declaration, dated February 8, is the first privilege log released by the Port. CP 19-41. The privilege log covers four volumes of a projected 47-volume set, volumes 1, 3, 14, and 15. CP 19-41. On January 29, Mr. West reviewed the first set of records that the Port made available, and designated records for copying. CP 13. On January 31, after having seen the records the Port made available, Mr. West served the Port with this lawsuit. CP 694.

Meanwhile, the show cause hearing in Mr. West's case was continued to March 28 (*see, e.g.*, CP 741-42) and Mr. Michels filed a second declaration containing an Index. (CP 708-713). According to the Index, the Port had notified Mr. West that the first five volumes (volume 1, 3, and 13-15) were ready to be reviewed on January 24, and Mr. West reviewed them on January 29, and the Port told Mr. West that the second six volumes (volumes 18-21 and 24-25) were ready to be reviewed on March 6, and Mr. West reviewed them on March 19. CP 712-713.

While all this was going on, Mr. West continued to request a complete set of exemption logs from the Port. CP 739. In an email dated March 14, Mr. West wrote to Ms. Lake, "It is my hope that a complete set of exemption logs will be prepared at this time [for the show cause hearing on March 28] in order to allow the Court to proceed with the case at that time." CP 739. Ms. Lake responded "It will be a close call to get the balance of the logs ready for the 28th, and now I have a...conflict for the 28th. We are now free on April 4th. How about that Friday?" CP 739.

In support of his show cause motion, Mr. West served the Port with a "Response to Defendant Port's Reply to Show Cause" on March 25, 2008. CP 718. The Port moved to have this Response stricken, on the basis that Mr. West failed to properly authenticate attached documents. CP 718. At the show cause hearing, the Trial Court, the Honorable

Frederick W. Fleming, granted that motion to strike as to the attachments; “The Court grants the Port’s Motion to Strike unauthenticated attached documents & Plaintiff will refile with proper certification.” CP 54. The Trial Court did not strike the Response itself to which the unauthenticated documents were attached. CP 54.

Though this pleading -- Mr. West’s Response to which the stricken documents were attached – is missing from the record, the Port quoted from it in its motion to strike and the Port’s quotes reflect the arguments Mr. West made (though not the stricken unauthenticated documents). CP 719. According to the Port’s quoted material, Mr. West argued in this pleading that the records the Port had allowed him to inspect showed that the Port had improperly deleted other public records responsive to his request, including emails. CP 719. Mr. West also argued that the release of these records to newspapers -- that then printed stories about the records -- resulted in public apologies from the Port of Tacoma for offensive statements made by Port of Tacoma employees about the Port of Olympia (the Port of Tacoma’s partner on the SSLC project) and apologies for deleting records. CP 719. Again, the Trial Court struck “the unauthenticated attached documents” (CP 54), not Mr. West’s Response to which the documents were attached or the arguments within his response. The arguments themselves were thus considered by the Trial Court.

At the show cause hearing on March 28, the Trial Court initially asked Mr. West if it weren't so that the Port had been gathering information in response to his PRA request and had provided some records already. RP 3/28/08 at p. 3-4; ll. 24-25, 1-2. Mr. West answered that the PRA "requires a certain procedure to be followed in response to a request." RP 3/28/08 at p. 4; ll. 3-6. Mr. West argued:

I certainly agree with reasonableness, Your Honor. And I agree that we can't proceed today. What I'd be asking for today would be a finding that the agency was in non-compliance with the Act, and a date certain for this production, that they need to provide an index for the records that exist, and they need to provide the exemptions that they are asserting.

Within five business days of a response, or a request, the agency is supposed to respond in a particular manner, saying when the records are going to be available, and asserting exemptions. Okay. In this case, they responded three times, prior to filing the lawsuit, with different dates of when the records were going to be available. Didn't assert any exemptions. Didn't meet any of the three dates. Still, to this day, the Port has not provided an index to what records exist, hasn't filed with this Court exemptions for which records have been withheld.

RP 3/28/08, pp. 4-5; ll. 10-25, 1. At the hearing, the Trial Court declined to find that the Port had violated the PRA, and Mr. West objected. RP 3/28/08, p. 12; ll. 8-10. The Trial Court also ruled that it was "premature" to rule on the issue of the Port's compliance with the PRA, and Mr. West again objected. RP 3/28/08, p. 13, ll. 18-23. Finally, the Court ordered

(with the Port's stipulation) that the "public records and privilege logs for volumes identified as 'final or near release' on the attached index shall be made available by April 15th, and the balance of the SSLC public records and privilege logs subject of Plaintiff's request shall be made available by May 1, 2008." CP 54.

On April 15, Ms. Lake notified Mr. West that the volumes of records (that were either complete or near completion at the time of the show cause hearing) were ready for Mr. West's review, as well as the privilege logs (exemption logs). CP 770. When Mr. West tried to make appointments to view, Ms. Lake failed to respond to Mr. West's requests for appointment times and failed to confirm proposed appointment times and dates (CP 770-82; *see also* "At first I [Mr. West] was told to make appointments with Lake. She refused to respond to confirm any appointment until it was past the point where I could re-schedule. Then she required me to contact you [Hillary Hunt of the Port], who also completely refused to confirm any appointment. Now I am told that there were appointments scheduled without anyone informing me. This is a complete and unreasonable run-around." CP 781), but Mr. West was finally allowed to review the records on April 24. CP 764.

Frustrated by the Port's and Ms. Lake's failure to confirm or make appointments and by their refusal to provide electronic copies of the

records or of the exemption logs (Mr. West wrote, on April 23, "...there is the matter of the complete refusal of each one of you to comply with the Court's March 28th order and make available a complete copy of all released records and a copy of all exemptions claimed. I have been requesting these in electronic format for over a week with absolutely no response or even acknowledgement of the request." CP 778), Mr. West filed another Motion for Show Cause Order on April 24, noting the hearing for May 2. CP 57.

In his Declaration in support of his motion for show cause,¹ Mr. West stated: "Without the filing of the lists of the exemptions claimed, (properly certified according to counsel's overly technical demands) and the submission of the exempted documents for in camera review the Court cannot proceed with this Case." CP 59. On the same day that Mr. West filed his second motion to show cause, April 24, the Port finally provided him with the privilege logs (exemption logs) that had been due on April 15 for 25 out of the 47 volumes of records. CP 764; *cf.* CP 783.

After reviewing the exemption logs, Mr. West argued to the Trial Court that "[t]he exemptions that have so far been provided contain such irregularities as 'preliminary' exemptions, 'copyright' exemptions, and

¹ Mr. West's show cause motion also sought to consolidate his case in Thurston County against the Port of Olympia, the Port of Tacoma's partner on the SSLC. The Trial Court denied this motion. CP 70.

overly broad and erroneous applications of the attorney client and deliberative process exemptions which fail to meet established standards under the PRA. A full consideration by the Court of all claimed exemptions and in camera review is necessary for the Court to proceed in this matter.” CP 65.

Mr. West also attached a copy of a record he had obtained from the Port, and argued to the Trial Court that “this record demonstrates (in paragraph 4) that the withholding of public inspection of records related to the SSLC was a strategy deliberately chosen by the Goodstein Law Group [Ms. Lake’s, the Port’s counsel’s, firm], Foster Pepper, and the Ports of Tacoma and Olympia.” CP 64-65. This record, a memo dated November 27, 2007, states:

When these studies [the Alternative Sites Analysis, the Market Analysis, and the Logistics Center Comparative Analysis – all relating to the SSLC] have been finalized, we are committed and prepared to share the results with a number of external groups, including Friends of Rocky Prairie [a group that, like Mr. West, made a PRA request to the Port seeking SSLC records]. However, we need to acknowledge two issues:...2) the need to fully brief both Commissions on the results of these studies prior to or concurrently with sharing them with external groups.

At this point, our intent is to schedule a joint Commission study session on January 25, 2008. The sole purpose of the study session will be to brief Commissioners on the results of the work done to date on the proposed project and the results of the studies.

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