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

IV. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

The Trial Court below exercised its discretion properly and consistent with long standing recognition of this judicial authority. "Courts of justice are universally acknowledged to be vested, by their very creation, with power to impose silence, respect, and decorum, in their presence, and submission to their lawful mandates." *Anderson v.*

Dunn, 6 Wheat. 204, 227, 5 L.Ed. 242 (1821). This appeal should be denied.

1. Washington Trial Courts undisputedly have vested inherent authority to dismiss cases.

Washington Courts have “such powers as are essential to the existence of the court and necessary to the orderly and efficient exercise of its jurisdiction.” *State v. Gilkinson*, 57 Wn.App. 861, 865, 790 P.2d 1247 (Div. 2, 1990). The courts derive authority to govern court procedures from Article IV s. 6 of the Washington Constitution. *City of Fircrest c. Jensen*, 158 Wn.2d 384, 395, 143 P.3d 776 (2006). Additionally, “inherent power is authority not expressly provided for in the constitution but which is derived from the creation of a separate branch of government and which may be exercised by the branch to protect itself in the performance of its constitutional duties.” *In re Mowery*, 141 Wn.App. 263, 281, 169 P.3d 835 (Div. 1, 2007); quoting *In re Salary of Juvenile Director*, 87 Wn.2d 232, 552 P.2d 163 (1976).

The Court’s power to discretionarily dismiss a case for unacceptable litigation practices is “inherent.” See *Business Services*, 174 Wn.2d at 308 (“The sole question is whether CR 41 (b)(1) applies to this case to limit the trial court’s inherent discretion to dismiss.”); *Snohomish County v. Thorpe Meats*, 110 Wn.2d 163, 166, 750 P.2d 1251 (1988) (“A court of general jurisdiction has inherent power to dismiss actions for lack of prosecution...”); *Wallace v. Evans*, 131 Wn.2d 572, 577-578, 934 P.2d 662 (1997) (“[T]he trial court’s inherent

discretion [to manage its affairs, so as to achieve the orderly and expeditious disposition of cases, to assure compliance with the court's rulings and observance of hearing and trial settings which are made] is not questioned by our interpretation.”).

2. Trial Court Expressly Ruled on & Found Each Criterion for Discretionary Dismissal Is Met.

“Dismissal is an appropriate remedy where the record indicates that ‘(1) the party's refusal to obey [a court] order was willful or deliberate, (2) the party's actions substantially prejudiced the opponent's ability to prepare for trial, and (3) the trial court explicitly considered whether a lesser sanction would probably have sufficed.’” *Will v. Frontier Contractors, Inc.*, 121 Wn.App. 119, 129, 89 P.3d 242 (Div. 2, 2004); quoting *Rivers v. Washington State Conference of Mason Contractors*, 145 Wn.2d 674, 686, 41 P.3d 1175 (2002).

a. The record expressly shows the Appellant's refusal to obey a court order was willful or deliberate, the first element is met.

The Trial Court's Order Denying Reconsideration, CP 657-661, expressly concludes that the Appellant willfully and or deliberately disobeyed a court order.

6. Dismissal is also an appropriate remedy where the record indicates that “(1) the party's refusal to obey [a court] order was willful or deliberate, (2) the party's actions substantially prejudiced the opponent and (3) the trial court explicitly considered whether a lesser sanction would probably have sufficed.” See *Rivers*, 145 Wash.2d at 686, 41 P.3d 1175.
7. A party's disregard of a court order without reasonable excuse or justification is deemed willful.

8. Petitioner West's failure to timely prosecute this PRA case was without justification or excuse, and was therefore willful.

Order Denying Motion to Vacate and or Reconsider Order of Dismissal, conclusions of law. CP 657-661. The first element is satisfied.

b. The record expressly shows the Appellant's actions substantially prejudiced the Port, the second element is met.

In its Order Denying Reconsideration, CP 657-661, the Trial Court expressly concludes that the Appellant's disobedience prejudiced the Port.

9. This is a Public Records Act case, in which potentially, a "per day" penalty is at issue.
10. Imposition of a "per day" penalty is mandatory.
11. Each day of the Petitioner's delay adds to the risk of the Port incurring a per day penalty, which under existing law, the Port could not be excused from ***even on the basis that Plaintiff caused the delay.***

Order Denying Motion to Vacate and or Reconsider Order of Dismissal, conclusions of law. CP 657-661. Emphasis original. therefore, the Trial Court found prejudice to the opposing party, the Port. The second element is satisfied.

Further, trial courts may consider the actions of litigants in other forums when involuntarily dismissing cases. *Mcneil v. Powers*, 123 Wn.App. 577, 97 P.3d 760 (Div. 3, 2004). Even the Appellant on appeal self-describes his actions involving his extracurricular litigation forays involving the Port and related to the subject matter of this lawsuit as "flailing around" and "hard to understand." *Appellant's*

Fourth Opening Br. 24. These actions include West's ill-conceived 2009 lawsuit against the Port and various members of the judiciary, and also West's 2010 Federal lawsuit against the Port of Tacoma and its legal counsel. All of these proceedings were on the record before Hon. Fleming. *See Dec'l of Lake*, CP 1043-1292. The taxpayer-funded Port has been prejudiced by the Appellant's refusal to respect or obey legal processes and orders. Therefore, the second element is met.

c. The Trial Court expressly considered a lesser sanction, the third and final element is met.

The Trial Court's Order Denying Reconsideration, CP 657-661 expressly considers lesser sanctions, and concludes that a lesser sanction will not do.

12. The Court's ruling to dismiss for want of prosecution recognizes and cures this prejudice, which no lesser sanction could do.

Order Denying Motion to Vacate and or Reconsider Order of Dismissal, conclusions of law. CP 657-661. The third and final element is satisfied.

3. Sanction of Dismissal Warranted

The sanction levied against Appellant is well-supported by and consistent with the very lengthy history of Washington Court sanctions for litigant malfeasance, which date back to statehood. A Trial Court's inherent authority to dismiss has been upheld for a variety of conduct that positively pales in comparison to the machinations of Appellant West:

- *McDaniel v. Pressler*, 3 Wn. 636, 638, 29 P. 209 (1892): Courts have authority to dismiss lawsuits for abandonment and also for plaintiff's disobedience of an order concerning the proceedings in an action.
- *Plummer v. Weill*, 15 Wn. 427, 430-431, 46 P. 648 (1896): Where the character of the attorneys and parties are not of issue, party's brief that refers to the opposing party in language that is grossly improper and unseemly [as here] warrants discretionary dismissal effectuated through the striking of the offensive brief.
- *Jackson v. Standard Oil of California*, 8 Wn.App. 83, 505 P.2d 139 (Div. 2, 1972); *Rev. denied*: Plaintiff expresses dissatisfaction with court order, leaves courtroom, dismissal with prejudice granted.
- *State ex rel. Clark v. Hogan*, 49 Wn.2d 457, 464, 303 P.2d 290 (1956): Inherent dismissal due to refusal to plead further an incoherent complaint.
- *State ex rel. Washington Water and Power Co. v. Superior Court for Chelan County*, 41 Wn.2d 484, 494, 250 P.2d 536 (1953): Court's inherent dismissal powers upheld despite stipulation to waive CR 41-governed dismissal among the parties.
- *National City Bank of Seattle v. International Trading co. of America*, 167 Wn. 311, 316-317, 9 P.2d 81 (1932): Court holds in dicta that CR 41 precursor does not forbid exercise of the inherent power of a court to dismiss an action "whenever in the interests of justice he may deem that the proper course to pursue."
- *Stickney v. Port of Olympia*, 35 Wn.2d 239, 241, 212 P.2d 821 (1950): Parties to the action are entitled to have the trial court consider and determine whether the action should be dismissed for want of prosecution independent of [CR 41 predecessor Rule] because plaintiff failed to continue making filings in the case for a protracted period, then noted a trial to escape operation of CR 41-predecessor.

In *Stickney*, The Supreme Court of Washington granted dismissal in favor of the Port of Olympia. The *Stickney* court held that the Port of Olympia was entitled to a discretionary dismissal for lack of diligent prosecution regardless whether the language in CR 41 was satisfied - because the lack of noted trial date served to preserve all of

the Court's discretion to dismiss the case. 35 Wn.2d at 241. ("The parties to the action are entitled to have the trial court consider and determine whether the action should be dismissed for want of prosecution independent of Rule 3¹²"). Emphasis provided.

The Port here is entitled to the same outcome because Appellant West, among many other actions, failed to note a trial date in this case until *after* the order of dismissal, and then failed to show up at his own reconsideration hearing.

Here, Appellant West's misbehaviors far exceed the conduct of prior litigants in other Washington State cases that resulted in discretionary dismissal. This Appeals Court should leave undisturbed the Trial Court exercise of discretion; discretionary dismissal is well warranted on these facts.

4. Appellant Has Not and Cannot Overcome High Standard of Review for Exercise of Discretion.

Trial courts have broad discretion to manage their courtrooms and conduct trials in order to achieve the orderly and expeditious disposition of cases. *In re Marriage of Zigler and Sidwell*, 154 Wn.App. 803, 815, 226 P.3d 202 (Div. 3, 2010); *citing State v. Johnson*, 77 Wn.2d 423, 426, 462 P.2d 933 (1969). When reviewing a dismissal due to unacceptable litigation practices, also referred to interchangeably as a "discretionary dismissal"¹³ or "inherent

¹² The precursor rule to CR 41.

¹³ *Business Services of America II, Inc. v. Watertech LLC*, ___ Wn.2d ___, 274 P.3d 1025, 1028 (2012).

dismissal¹⁴” throughout Washington case law, the standard of review is abuse of discretion: “When the Court’s inherent power to dismiss for want of prosecution is at issue the trial court’s decision is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard.” *Stickney v. Port of Olympia*, 35 Wn.2d 239, 241, 212 P.2d 821 (1950); *see also Business Services of America II v. Waftertech, LLC*, ___ Wn.2d ___, 274 P.3d 1025, 1031 (2012, C.J. Madsen, dissenting). The sole dispositive issue in this appeal is whether the trial court abused its discretion in dismissing the case due Appellant’s lack of Prosecution beyond that described by CR 41(b)(1).

Abuse of discretion in this involuntary dismissal for unacceptable litigation practices is limited to when the trial court decision to dismiss is “manifestly unreasonable” or “based on untenable grounds.” *Woodhead v. Discount Waterbeds, Inc.*, 78 Wn.App. 125, 131, 896 P.2d 66 (Div. 1, 1995); *citing Hizey v. Carpenter*, 119 Wn.2d 251, 268, 830 P.2d 646 (1992).

A trial court’s exercise of discretion is manifestly unreasonable if no reasonable person would concur with the Court’s view when the Court applies the correct legal standard to supported facts. *Mayer v. Sto Indu., Inc.*, 156 Wn.2d 677, 684 (2006); *quoting State v. Rohrich*, 149 Wn.2d 647, 654, 71 P.3d 638 (2003). A trial court’s exercise of discretion rests upon untenable grounds if the trial court relies upon unsupported facts or applies the wrong legal standard. *Id.*

¹⁴ *Snohomish County v. Thorp Meats*, 110 Wn.2d 163, 173, 750 P.2d 1251 (1988).

“We do not reverse a discretionary decision absent a clear showing that the trial court's exercise of its discretion was manifestly unreasonable or exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons.” *City of Puyallup v. Hogan*, ___ Wn.App. ___, 277 P.3d 49 (Div. 2, 2012).

A discretionary dismissal will be reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Rivers v. Wash. State Conference of Mason Contractors*, 145 Wn.2d 674, 684-85, 41 P.3d 1175 (2002); *see also Woodhead v. Discount Waterbeds, Inc.*, 78 Wn.App. 125, 129, 896 P.2d 66 (1995) (a court has the discretion to dismiss an action based on a party's willful noncompliance with a reasonable court order). A court abuses its discretion only if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. *In re Marriage of Littlefield*, 133 Wn.2d 39, 46-47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997).

5. On Appeal, Appellant Only Briefed Collateral Matters, And Therefore Cannot Overcome The Standard Of Review.

Appellant West fails to make the required showing that the Trial Court abused its discretion. The Appellant's omission of the required showing is particularly frustrated by the fact that Appellant failed to identify and/or brief the actual legal issues which are properly appealable. The Appellant's brief identifies three "categories" or issues. One issue pertains to CR 41(b)(1) and (2) notice requirements. *Appellant's Fourth Opening Br.* 2-3. This issue is irrelevant because the Court exercised both discretionary dismissal and CR 41 dismissal. The

remaining two issues pertain to PRA substantive merits, which the Trial Court did not reach. *Appellant's Fourth Brief*, 3-4.

The Appellant failed to identify or brief any cognizable trial court error that could lead to reversal. To prevail on appeal, the Appellant must show manifestly unreasonable court action that no other reasonable person would agree with or untenable grounds. The oversight in Appellant's briefing is fatal to his appeal, which requires a **clear showing** which satisfies the applicable legal standard: here, abuse of discretion. *In re Littlefield*, 133 Wn.2d at 46-47.

Instead of articulating (and then meeting) the appropriate legal standard, Appellant's Opening Brief attempts to revisit the merits of the case from a slanted viewpoint and impugn the actions of the Port in its underlying administration of the SSLC. Consider representative language at *Appellant's Fourth Opening Br.* 8: "Meanwhile, the Port of Tacoma, backpedaling in light of "questions" raised by community members "regarding possible impacts at a site-specific level" retained an independent contractor" to "search, examine, and report on any other feasible site locations for the SSLC..." This argument is irrelevant and has absolutely nothing to do with any salient issue, PRA or otherwise, and represents the tone of the entire [Fourth] Opening Brief.

The issues Appellant attempts bring before the appeals court are in fact *doubly* collateral. The discretionary dismissal of March 4, 2011, rendered the merits of the underlying Public Records Act collateral to

the Appellant's misbehavior. Appellant West's underlying dissatisfaction with the Port's handling of the SSLC, which may have prompted the Appellant's records request in the first place, is itself collateral to the PRA liability-phase lawsuit merits. Yet, the Appellant has dedicated greater than twenty pages to briefing the Appellant's "factual" dissatisfaction with the Port's administration of the now-defunct SSLC.

This Court should deny the appeal— Appellant has failed to articulate or meet the burden of review or provide any cognizable grounds for reversal.

6. Even if the Appellant had properly identified and briefed issues in this case, the Record supports affirming dismissal.

Appellate courts are loath to substitute their discretion for that of the trial court, which is what the Appellant actually requests. *A.G. v. Corporation of Catholic Archbishop of Seattle*, 162 Wn.App. 16, 25, 271 P.3d 249 (Div. 1, 2011), and cases cited therein. ("An appellate court does not substitute its own judgment for that of the trial court, but rather, looks to whether the court's exercise of discretion was manifestly unreasonable, or made for untenable reasons.")

An appellate court does not substitute its own judgment for that of the trial court, but rather, looks to whether the court's exercise of discretion was manifestly unreasonable, or made for untenable reasons. *State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971), *Overruled on other grounds by RCW 71.05.390, explained by*

Seattle Times Co. v. Benton County, 99 Wn.2d 251, 263 661 P.2d 964 (1983). The Supreme Court of Washington recently held such substitution to be reversible error. *Teter v. Deck*, ___Wn.2d___, 274 P.3d 336, 346, 274 P.3d 336 (2012) (“We will not substitute our own judgment in evaluating the scope and effect of that misconduct”).

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